JANES BERNARD HARKIN

A Brief Bisgraphlcal Sketch |

Few Canadisns bhave cxerted a greater influence on the conservaiion
of wild 1i%s and the P?eﬂ@r?&tiOﬁ'Oflthﬁ environment than James
Bersiard Harkin. As Covmimaloner of Natioms) Derks fros 1911 to 1976,
Mr. Hariin tvaneformed Conada’s first nationsl pexk at Banff, and

& number of Doginior park resevves, iwbte s cohesive, representative

syster of Natloual Peiks that goxved as a prototype for meny conservation-

minded nstions to emulate. He developed for public use meny cutstanding
seﬁnie Ereas tﬁét proviously wWere relatively uvnknown, infivenced the
establishment of new paxks on a nation-wlds mozls, aaé established naw
standsrds for thedr preservation, gontrol and mansgement., *

Mr., Harkin, known to bls intimaies as "Bunnie™, had hia flrst contact
with the adminiat#étion of Canaﬁa‘a Kational Parks eaxly in the pressut
Eentuﬁy, éuriﬁg his B@rvicé as private secrotary %o successlve Ministers
of the Interior. Froz 1887 to 1908, Bocky Mountains (Banff) park and
the park regerves vwere aduinistered firom Ctiawa by the Deputy Miﬁisﬁar
of the Interior, asmizted by the Depsytamental Secretary end the
Department's Law Clerk. local adminigtration was entrusted to a
Park Superintendent at Banff, who 2lsc was responsinle for the
nanagement of ths park ressrves at Yohs, Glscier, Waterton Lokes,

Jagper and Elk Igland.

Tn 1908, the Superintenden: of Forestry at Ottaws was pleced in
charge of park administration, and the Park Superintendent st Banf?,
Howard Douglasm, waa promoted to the rost of Commigsioner of Parks at
Tdmonton. Trom thig point he carried on the functions oi a chia?
Superintendent of Parks, responsible for the smanagement of the

wveatern parks and reserves undar individual superintendents.
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In 1911, Honourahle Ffank Oliver, Hiniater of the Inlarior, dacided
to improve perk administration by legislation, and on May 19, 1911,
obtaipsd royal aaaeﬁt to the Dominion Forest Reservea and Parka Act.

The most signdficant result of this legigintion waa thae creation
of a8 zew branch in $he Departioent of ths Interior to sdminister the
federal parks. Yor the next ten years it was known as the Dominion
Parks Brsnch. Heading the new hranch zs Commissionsr and directing its
activities from Olttawa was Mr, Haridm. Fileld adminisfration; with
heaéquarterﬁ at Démonton, remsined in charge of Howard Douglas. Douglas
wag glven the new title of Chief Supsrintendent, and in that capseity
he was responsible for the resident park superintendenta and their
setivities.

The circumstances of the new Commigsioner's aprointment are interesting.
A native of Vankleek Hill, Ontario, Mr. Ilarkdin recelved hils education
"thare and at'Harquette, Michigan. Me chose newapaper work ng a vocabtion
snd commenced his caveer as a journslist at Montreal in 1892. The
following year, he accepled employwent witi the Ottawa Jowrnal, rising
in a few years to the position of city edltor, with membership in the
Porliagmentary Press Gallery. Late in 1901, ?.D. Ross, editor and
owner of The Journal, was approached by Monowrable Clifford 3ilton,
Minisbter of the Inierior, for mssistance in the recruliment of a
frolitical?! necxetary. Rosa confessed that the only person having
the necessary qualifications snd background that he could recommend,
wos his city editor.. Mr. Harkin wap offered the position, accepted ik,
and waa sppointed to tha public pervice of Canada on Decomber 2, L0O0L,
The Minlster of the Interior also wos tha Superintendent (enearpl of
Indian Affairs, and for zeveral yesrs Mr. Horkin was carried oo the

egtohlighment of the Departnment of Indian Affairs as » Tirst claas olerin
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In-February, 190%, he was confirmed by order inm council aa the Hinister's
Private Secretary, and on Apxril 1, 1907, tranasferred to the staff of the
Department of the Interior. On the resignation of Clifford Sifton as
Minigter of the Interior in 1505, Mf. Harkin was requested by Sifton's
successor, Honourzble Frank Oliver, to continmue aas his Private Becretary.
This position Mr. Harldn filled until 1911.

In his capscity of Private Secrstary, Mr. Harkin was involved in
matters of sdministratios and policy for which his Minister was responsible.
In the early part of the twentieth century, these included administration
of the Yukon and Northwest Territories, Dominion and other public lands,
ﬁdpographical surveys, forestry and. immigration matters, Rocky Mcuﬁtains
Park and other park reserves, togather with Indian Afféira. As ¥r. Oliver's
secretary, Mr. Harkin also was involved in the purchase of the Pablo herd
of buffalo, which led to the successful experiment of saving from
‘extinetion, this megnificent game animal.

Prior to the egnactment of the new park legislation in 1811, Mr. BHarkin
was informed by Mr. Oliver of the latter's intention to establish two
new branches of the Department, one to administer the national park
system, snd the other to supervise federal water power natters. Given
g choicde of heading either of the two new buresus, Hr. Herkin chose

national parks. His appointment as Commissicner of Peminion Parks
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was confirmed by order in council on August 10, 1911, retroactive to
April 1.

Mr. Harkin launchéd the new branch in September, 1911, A =mall
staflf was recruited from cther divisions of the Demnartment. The vow
with experience in park administration ceme from the Forostry Branch,
Others frea the Surveys Branch brought additional kills. Gradually
a capable Head O0ffice staff including technical yperconmel vas wullt wp .
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and plans and policles formulated for the administration of a total
area of about 4,000 squars milem. Although Howard Douglas was retired
from the position of Chief Superintendent in 1912, the office waa
maintadned at Edmonton until 1917. A field engineering office was
developed at Banff, {rom which major consiruction projscta in the
field were co-ordinatad.

After taldnz offlce, the new_Commissionar mads a tour of Western
Canada to inspact the sreas which were under his conirel. From this
trip Mr. Harkin wae able to visuslize the potentialities of the great
unspoiled wilderness that had been dedicated zs a ﬁleaﬂure ground foxr
Canadiang. Before leaving, he had little in the way to guide hinm,
other than the reportz of early park superintendenta which recorded
development previougly undertaken. As described by one of hig original
shaff, Mahel B. Williamﬂ.'in yer discerning book, 'Guardians of the
Wild,™

"There was little in the new office at Ottaws to serve for

guide or inspiration. The files which had been transierrved

to the new organization were for the most part dresry

compilations of correspondence concerning transfers of land

in the townsites of Banff and Field, the collsciion of rates

and telephone charges, complainis concerning dusty roads, and

the sbsence of a garbage collection. There wsre few photographs
and no books, with the exception of Govarnment records aad
vulleting. Three thousand miles away from their inspiring reslity,
it was difficult to vigualize these national parks,-and far

more difficult to realize to what manifold uses they might be put.?

The new commissioner was soon aware of the need for an increased
appropriation from Parliament for development work required Lo make

the attractions of the national parks more easily nucessible to igitors.
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Mr. Harkin had taken charge of the parks at the beginning of what
might he termed the Yantomobile age.m He hecame a strong proponent
of tourism, not only for the purpose of stimulating travel to the
parks, but alse to impress on the législators in Parliament the urgent
need for more monay wits which to improves and carry out hiz plana.
Most visibtor traffic to date had besn travsported by railway, but
in 1911 the first road capsble of carrying motor traffic from Calgary
to Benff was completed. Mr. Harkin's early annual. xreports of éﬁe
activities of hig Branch siressed the value of tourist traffic in the
Unitad States and Eurpﬁe,-and called to abtiention the need for Canediasns
to share ix the tourimt dollar by emphasizing the advantages and
attractions of national Perka. ILater, in 1917, he advocated the
creation of a national travel burean, a stap which eventually was
taken by the Government of Canada in 1934 when the Canadisn Travel
Bureau was creatéd. . | |

In explaining the policy of the Mational Parks Branch, Mr. Harkin
cited the need for quality in services made available to wisitors.
These included improved vigitor accommodation, protection against
extortion, and the provision ¢f minor attractions to supplement
natural fzatures. The construction of first class roads wnd trails
was advocatad so0 that park attractions mignt be renched in comfort
and in safety. He took action to control the prevailing dust nuisance,
improved supervizion of water supplies and sanitation, and instituted
control of local transportation egencies including guidea, drivers and
charges. Steps also were taken to improve fire and gamé protection
services, =nd reduce exploitation of the natural resources of the parks,
particularly by the holders of timber licences granted in earlier days.

During his twenty~five year term of office, Mr. Harkin saw many of
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his carly objectives reached. Highway construction, which had bsen
commenced prior to the first great war, was resumed in 1919 and the
following year Banff was lirked by motor road with Lake Iouise, In
1923, Banff-Windermers Highway, th; first automobile road to crosa
the central Canadian Rockies through Banff and Kootenay Parks, was
completed. Consgtruction of an early link in the Trans~Canada Highwey
from Lake Iouise through Yonn Park to Golden in the Columbia River
Valley, enabled motorists by 1927 to participate in a cixcle tour of
250 miles through the Rocky Mountsins. An outastanding achievement was
the completion of the spectacuiar Banff~Jdagper or Icefields Highwsy
in 1934,

Az park highways were extended, the provisicﬁ of adequate accommadation
by private enterprise was_eﬁcouraged. A chain of motor lodges developed
by the Canadian Pacific Railway, was augmented by attractive cabin
" developments developed by other concessionnaires. The Canadian National
Railways added Jasper Park Iodge in 1923 to the 1list of superb mountain
hotels which had been developed by the Capadian Pacific in Banif and
Yoho Parks. Vipitors were encouraged $o see thas parks on horseback
or afoot; and an extensive system of riding and hiking trails waz made
available. Early bathing establisbments buiit at the hot springs
in Banff and Kootenay Parks were supplanted by commodious pocls and
with att;active dressing rooms, and a new installation nade at Miette
Hot Springs in Jasper Park.

With larger appropriations and an increasing visitor uss of the parks
came expansion in ths park establishment. IEnginesring reguirements led
to the development of a technical division headed by a chief engineasr.
In 1921, ths town-planning office of the former Coumission of Conzexvation

vas transferrad to the Natlonal Parks Braach. Yais development resulfed
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in the acquisition of a town~plaaning ard architectural service that
was to benefit both the park service and those providing services in
the parks.

Commissioner Harkin was an ardent conservationist, having had an
early association with the acqﬁisition of the buffale herds that were
placed in Elk Island and Buffalo Parks. In 1914, he brought to the
attention of the Minister, the plight of the prong-horned antelops
wnich, although once prolific on the western prairies, was in danger
of extinction. Cn his recommendation, three areas - two in southern
Alverta and one in Saskatchewan - were reserved in 1916 for the
protection of the species. ILater in 1922, these areas were established
as the Nemiskam, Wawaskesy, and Menissawok National Parks. Within these
protected areas, the sntelope flourished and re~populated adlacent
aveas., With the future of the speciea assured, the antelove parks
later wers gbolished and the lands returned to the provinces concerned.

Canada's participation in 1916 with the United Siamtes in a treaty
to protect migratory birds resulted in another expansion of the National
Parks Branch. Administration of the Migratory Birds Convention Act
pagsed by Parliament in 1917, was delegated to the Department of the
Interior and enirusted to the Commissicner of Parks. Regulations were
established under ths Act in 1913, and following the appointment of an
ornithologist, a wildlife section was created to administer them. Prom
this modest beginning was developed the National Parks ¥ildlife Division,
later to bvecome the Canadian Wildlife Service. In April, 1946, it
became a separate brazch of the Departuent of Indian Affaira and
Northern Development. ILater, in November, 1970, it was tranaferred to

the Department of Figheriles and Forestry which, in 1071 became the

nucleus of the Department of the Environment.
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Anothér step taken tc facilitate game protection in Canada was the
formstion in 1516 of an interdepartmental Advisory Board on Wild ILife
Protaction. Composed of representatives of meveral federsl government
departments, including the commigsioner of National Parks, the board
functioned for nearly fifty years before it was dissolved., During its
existence, the board served in an advisory ¢apacity, end its influence
led in 1918 to the ostablishment of Point Pelee National Paric on what
previcualy had been z Navel Reserve on Lake Frle. | |

The interest of Commlzsioner Harkin in bistoric sites and hwilldings

in Cansds led to the crestion of yet another division of the National
I

Parks Branch. & growing appreciation of the need for pressrving and
marking places of higtorie intereat in Canada was sparked by the
formation in 1507 of the Historic Landmarks Asscciation of Canada.

Its immedinte object was to assist Iin preparationa for the Texrcentenary

of Quebec in 1508, Ita work however, was continued until 1922 when it

becane known as the Canadian Hisborical Association. Mr. Harkin had
been a member of the assoclation for some yesrs, and had been activs

in having Canada'’s first national historic parks éstabliﬂhed - Fort pre
in New Brunswick in 1914, and Tort Amne in Nova Scotia in 1917. In
March, 1919, he rscommended to the Deputy Hinister of the Interdor that
an hororary board, cemprised of men kmown to be authoritiss on Canadian
higtory, be creatad to advise the Department on the preservation of
osltes of natlonal historic interest in Canada. The recommencdation was
approved by the Minister, Honourable Arthur Meighen. Yollowing their
appointment, the members of the Ristoric Sites and Hanuﬁanta Board of
Canada held thair firat meeting in Oittawa on October 23, 1919. The
board of ssven members elected Brigadier General B.A, Cruikshsnk of

Ottawa as Chairman. Commissioner Harkin served on the board for sone
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years, and his assistany, F.H.H. Williamson was the first secrotary.
The Board funciioned in an advisory capacity, and the adminigtrative
vwork involved in acquiring, marking and preserving sites recommended
by the Board was assumed by the National Parks Branch. From a small
unit, the Historic Sites Divigion developed into the Nationel Historic
Parks snd Sites Service, responsible for the adwinistration of more
than 20 historic parks end over €00 historic mites.

The need for suiltable libersturs describing the physical attractions
of thé paxkz, their fauna and flora, was récegnized shortly after the
National Parks Branch was formed. This requirement wag met in part
by the production of pamphlats describing the Banff Museum, the
Nakimy Caves, tha geology, the glaciersm ond the game fimh of the
mountain parks. The first distinctive park publication, iasued in
1914, by Commissioner Harkin, outlined the objectives and functiona
of the parks, and carried as an insert in ils covex, a sprig of
mouniain heather., Another early publication, described the summer
and winter attractions of Banff National Park. An effective campaign
to educate the public in Fforeat fire preveniion also was undertaken.

Following the end of the first great war, increased sppropriations
permitted an expansion of educational and publicity activiiies.
-Commiséionar’ﬁarkin obtainsd authority to establish a publicity diviaion
within tpe Branch under a director. The Parka Branch was one of the
firgt ag;ncies in the federal government to adept motion pictures as
a publicity medium, The division also maintained a large slide and
photograph library, from which hundreds of prinis warendis%ributed
anmually. Special exhibits were prepared for display at world's
faira, expositions, and other exhibitions. Iater, the Iranch snployad

radio for the broadcasting of talks and information. At its zenith the
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Publicity Division had a staff of 25, but following the creation of
othar government information agencies, including the National Film
Board and ths Canadian CGovernment Travel Buremu, many of its former
functions were turned over to the new organizations. Its remaining
activities eventually were absorbed by the Departmental information
division.

Azong Mr. Herkin's notable achisvements during his 25-yeer term as
lCommiaaioner of National FParks were the compdetion of the Banff.Windsrmers
Highway Agreement in 1919, the agrasments msde with tﬁe fonr western
provinces of Canada under the‘Natienal Resourceé Acts of 1930, and the
enactment of the National Parks Act on May 30, 1930. The 1919 agreement
with British Columbis, not only led to the creation of Kootemay Naticnal
Park, but facilitated the administration of National Parks in that
- province by confirmingrlegisiative Jurisdiction of the Federal CGovernment
in several Amportant fields.

The enaciment of the National Parks Act climaxed the prolonged
efforts of Commizsaioner Harkin to have the parky removed from the
jurisdiction of the Dowinion Forests Reserves and Parks Act and placed
under the authority of a separate act. The task of developing suitable
legiplation consumed a perlod of 10 yzars. It involved lengthy
digcugsions with the four western provinces, and culminated in the
completion of resources agreements by the Ministasyr of the Interior with
the respective provincial premiers. These agreesents pot only confirmed
as national parks the areas listed in schedules to the Resources Acts,
but confirmed the legislative Jurisdiction cof the federal governnment
within the parks, and the rights to the natural resources within their
cuter boundaries.

Hr. Harkin's public service as Commiszsioner of National Parka
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terminated rathar abruptly in December, 1936. The amalgamation of
four Federal Govafnm&nt departmenta, Interior, Hines,‘Immigration and
Colonization, and Indian Affairs, produced repercussions. As Prime
Minister King had pointed out in i?traducing the necessary leglalation
in Parliament, the meagure on zporoval eliminated the nsed for thrse
deputy ministers smd thrae aaﬁistﬁnt deputy miniaters. Ths appoiniment
of the aenior deputy minister of the diéappaaring departmenta as head
of the ney Department of Mines and Resourcea left a surplus of senior
officers fgr selection as Dir@ctora to head the five new branches of
th§ Departmehto Paced with the prospect of reporting to the Minister
through a Director responsible net only for paticnsl paxks but for
the administration of public lands, forestry matters, and Canada's
northland, Mr. Harkin.daclined the post of Controller, National Pariks
Bureau, and accepted ratireéent at the age of 6l.

During his post-retirement years, Mr. Horlin was asctive in community
" life. A meﬁﬁer of Internationsl Rotary, be served as a director and
headed several commitiees in the Otiawa Rotary Club. He slso devoted
congiderable time and effort to the activitles of the Canadian Boy
Scouts Assotiation, inm which he served as a.member of the National
Executive until 1946, He wag the recipient of the Silver Wolf, the
highest awerd conferred by the Scouts Association, Mr. Harkin died in
Ottawa on Januvary 27, 1955, three days short of his eightieth birthday.

Mf. Harkin was married to Jean McCuaig of Otiswa. They had no
¢hildren. He had an even disposition, strong convicltions, and reached
decisions after careful deliberation. An ardent golfer, he also derived
much pleagure from reading. Having an innovative nature, he carefully
recorded hig thoughts, proposals and plans for park development on cards
for future discussions with his staff. A review of these cards, which

5till remain in park records, disclose his wide knowledge and broad
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conception of Canzda's needs in the field of conmervation, history and
public recreation. He was held in great esteem by members of hism stalf

and his admniniatrative metbods engendered a remarkanle devetion o

national park ideals.
Mr. Harkin's public service is commemorated by Hownt Harkin, s
9800-Zoat pask in Kootensy National Park which overicoks the Banffew
Windermere Highway. Yo 1958, thas National Perka Service of Cansda
erected a more tanglible moamorial in tho grounds of ths A@minigﬁrﬁtion
Building in Bénfi National Pari. The lnstripticn on a brunze tablet,
nounted on & large fielde-stone boulder, reads:
JAMES PERNARD HARKIN

COMMISSIONZR OF MATIONAL PARKS, 19111936

EDI”OR PUBLIC SEE THYAND , CON@TBVA& LONLST AND HUMANTTARIAN
His REQRGARIZAED THS AUMINISERATLGH OF OUR NATIGHAL Pials ANG

GUTTDED SRR DEVEIOPMENT TUROUEH THS CRITICAL VOR.

SIVE

TBEARS. THROUGH HIS VISTON, IORToaRIvy, AND LEVCITD SSRVICE,

THESE SFLENDID ARTAS NOW SPAN CANADA - DEDICASED TO HER

PEOPLE ¥OR THEIR JENVEFIT, EDUCATICN AND ENJOTHENT.

Mr. Harkin's most enduring monusent, however is ths ever-expanding

systen of Hatlonalk Parks in Canads, vhich now extends westerly from
the Atlentic to the Pacific Ocesn; snd poutharly from the Arctic Talands
@ Ioternational Boundary. Complementing the Mational Parks are a
chain of Naticnal Histordc Parks and huadreds of Nationsl Hishoris Siten
which have been suitodbly merked. In numbers, dlversity. of attractions
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aad neope on conservabion. Cancda's Hablonmal Parlis zow probably cuseed

EEaTLG,
2Ly 1972,

Lothisn.



